2007

# William Borghetti v. System & Computer Technology, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to the provisions of *Utah Code Ann.* §78-2-2(3)(j)(Rep. Vol. 9 2007)

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

Did the Court below err when it granted summary judgment by concluding that Plaintiffs failed to come forward with evidence of damages?

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

A district court's granting of a motion for summary judgment is reviewed for correctness; viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.

Mountain Estate Landscape and Snow Removal Specialists, Inc. v. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co., 844 P.2d 322 (Utah 1992).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from two separate summary judgments entered in the underlying case.

The Court below granted summary judgment for both defendants on one issue, damages, holding that Plaintiffs had not come forward with any evidence of damages. (R. 5368, R. 5358).

Plaintiffs, however, had presented an affidavit of Avner Kalay, a world renowned economist, which gave a range of damages for Plaintiffs of between \$4.2 million and

\$6.706 million. (R. 4645, ¶14).

### Summary of the Claims

In 1998, William Borghetti formed Campus Pipeline, Inc. (A Delaware Corporation f/k/a Campus Communications; hereafter “CPI”). (R. 1982, p. vii). Mr. Borghetti and the other Plaintiffs were all shareholders of common stock in CPI. (R. 1855, p. 2). System and Computer Technology (hereinafter “SCT”) made capital contributions to the company in exchange for common stock giving it 60% control over Campus Communications. (R. 1982, p. vii).

In 1999 and 2000 CPI sold preferred shares in its company which gave the preferred shareholders the first \$80.9 million in the event of a liquidation. (R. 1855, p.6-7).

In 2002, SCT, the largest and controlling shareholder made an offer to purchase CPI in a “cash out” merger. (R. 1855, p. 15). Defendant Thomas Weisel Partners, LLC (“TWP”) was retained by CPI to perform an appraisal/fairness opinion for CPI. (R. 1855, p. 15). TWP was only to be paid (a minimum of \$800,000.00) if the company was in fact liquidated. (R. 1855, p. 15 and 16).

On September 5, 2002, the CPI board of directors voted to approve a merger with SCT. (R. 1855, p. 21). The merger took effect on October 23, 2002 for a price of \$42,000,000. (R. 5368, p.2).

Plaintiffs stock was cancelled as a result of the acquisition, and they received nothing



(zero consideration) for their shares. (R. 5368, p.2).

Despite the clear interests of the Campus Pipeline common stockholders to reject the acquisition, Campus Pipeline's directors and officers approved a transaction with SCT that gave significant value to insiders (money), including the directors and officers who approved the transaction, and to SCT (the company and its assets), but nothing at all to Campus Pipeline's common stock. (R. 3957, Ex. NN, ¶¶5-14).

Because Borghetti opposed the acquisition, he was entitled under section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (DGCL) to file an appraisal action in Delaware to seek a determination of the "fair value" of his shares in CPI as of the effective date of the acquisition. (R. 5368, p. 7). Section 262 of the DGCL requires that an appraisal action be filed within 120 days from the effective date of the acquisition. (R. 5368, p. 7).

To address his remedies, Borghetti alleged that he entered into an attorney client relationship with the Bendinger defendants based upon numerous in person meetings, phone calls, retention of valuation professionals, and Bendinger's taking of the only copy of Mr. Borghetti's file. (R. 3957, ¶¶ 1-35). The Bendinger defendants continued working with Mr. Borghetti on his case for over six months, during which time the statute of limitations for an appraisal action passed. (Id.). The Bendinger Defendants failed to file an appraisal action within 120 days and failed to advise Borghetti that they were not going to file such an appraisal action. (R. 3957, ¶¶ 1-35).

Plaintiffs brought this action against System and Computer Technology, Inc. and

Campus Pipeline's officers and directors for breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, misrepresentation and fraud. In this same litigation one of the Plaintiffs, William Borghetti, (hereinafter "Borghetti") brought a claim for legal malpractice against Bendinger, Crockett, Peterson and Casey and Jeffrey S. Williams (hereinafter "Bendinger defendants") for failing to timely file a Delaware state "appraisal action."

Despite the length of their relationship, researching of appraisals and fraud claims, the hiring of a valuation expert, and six months of in person and telephone meetings, the Bendinger defendants denied the existence of the attorney client relationship and claimed that Borghetti suffered no damages.

The SCT defendants claimed that they did their best to sell the corporation at the best price and that Plaintiffs suffered no damages. They also claimed since they sold at less than the liquidation preference that Plaintiffs could not show any damages.

Plaintiffs claimed (a) that there was no reason to sell; (b) that there were many other options available to keep CPI a going concern; (c) that there were substantial conflicts of interests for all parties that "approved" the transaction; and (d) that Plaintiffs were damaged as a result of receiving zero consideration for their shares.

Plaintiff William Borghetti ("Borghetti") claimed that CPI should not have approved the acquisition because it was unfair to the common shareholders since they received zero consideration.

The Kalay Opinions and the Opinions of the Defendants' Experts on the issue of Damages.

Plaintiffs' expert, Avner Kalay is a professor at the David Eccles School of Business at the University of Utah where he teaches courses in valuation. He received his B.A. in economics from Tel Aviv University, a Masters in Business Administration from the University of Rochester and a PhD in Business Administration from the University of Rochester. (R. 4645, ¶¶1-2). He was a Chairman of the Finance Department at Tel Aviv University, and a tenured member of NYU's business school faculty. (R. 4645, ¶¶3-4). Professor Kalay has published numerous articles in leading finance journals and formerly worked as a consultant for the SEC (R. 4645, ¶¶5-6).

In March 2006 Kalay prepared a valuation report for this matter in which he utilized an option pricing theory in order to value Campus Pipeline. (R. 3247, exh. C). Kalay determined that Campus Pipeline had a value of \$63.6 million and \$72.9 million at the end of 2002 and that the fair value of the Plaintiffs' shares at the time of the "cash out" merger was between \$4.2 million and \$6.706 million. (R. 4645, ¶¶ 13-14).

To arrive at that value, Kalay used what is known as the Black-Scholes method of valuation. (R. 4645, ¶15).

Kalay's conclusions in his report concerning use of the Black-Scholes methodology are highly supported by the available literature. Fischer Black and Myron Scholes won the Nobel Prize for Economics in 1997 for their work "The Pricing of

Options and Corporate Liabilities.” (R. 4645, ¶¶29b).

The Black-Scholes model is the seminal work in options pricing theory and it has not only been utilized in valuing options, but has been used to value equity and debt in a company. (R. 4645, ¶¶29a).

Nonetheless, the District Court granted summary judgment for both groups of Defendants on the erroneous conclusion that Plaintiffs did not have evidence of damages.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The granting of summary judgement was incorrect because there was a disputed fact: the fair value of Plaintiffs’ shares at the time of the merger. The district court’s conclusion either disregarded the damage calculation of Avner Kalay, or it incorrectly concluded that the market value of the company on the date of the merger was the proper calculation of damages.

Delaware law clearly required that the district court determine the fair value of the Plaintiff’s shares as opposed to the market value of the company. In determining such fair value, the court was required to take into account all relevant factors, including the expert opinion of Dr. Kalay.

## ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

**KALAY'S AFFIDAVIT CLEARLY STATED THAT THE FAIR VALUE OF PLAINTIFFS' SHARES IN CPI WAS BETWEEN \$4.2 MILLION AND \$6.706 MILLION. THAT FACT, WHILE DISPUTED BY THE DEFENDANTS' EXPERTS, REQUIRED THAT THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTIONS BE DENIED.**

In determining whether the trial court correctly found that there were no genuine issues of material fact, the appellate court views the facts and all reasonable inferences in a light most favorable to the party opposing the motion. Neiderhauser Bldrs. & Dev. Corp. v. Campbell, 824 P.2d 1193 (Utah Ct. App. 1992). The Court accords no deference to a trial court's legal conclusions given to support the grant of summary judgment, but reviews them for correctness. Schurtz v. BMW of N. Am., Inc., 814 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1991). It only takes one sworn statement to dispute averments on the other side of controversy and create an issue of fact, precluding summary judgment. Holbrook Co. v. Adams, 542 P.2d 191 (Utah 1975). The presence of a dispute as to material facts disallows the granting of a summary judgment. Bill Brown Realty, Inc. v. Abbott, 562 P.2d 238 (Utah 1977).

In its order granting summary judgment to the SCT defendants, the District Court stated:

Plaintiffs have failed to come forward with evidence creating a genuine issue of material fact on the question of whether they suffered damages. Because damages are a necessary element of each of the causes of action they bring against Defendants, Plaintiffs cannot prevail on any of their claims as a matter of law. (R. 5358, p 3-4).

That conclusion failed to recognize or account for paragraph 14 of Avner Kalay's affidavit in opposition to the motions for summary judgment. That paragraph reads:

14. In the March 2006 report later modified by my deposition testimony, I concluded that the fair value of Mr. Borghetti's shares at the time of the merger was between \$4.2 million and \$6.706 million."

Under both the legal malpractice causes of action and the breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, misrepresentation and fraud causes of action, the measure of the Plaintiffs' damages was the value of their shares of common stock in CPI at the time of the merger when they were cancelled. Dr. Kalay's opinion was that they were worth between four and six million dollars at the time they were cancelled.

Thus, there was a disputed fact: the value of the Plaintiffs' shares. Because there was a disputed fact, the granting of summary judgment was incorrect and should be overturned.

**THE DISTRICT COURT INCORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT THE MARKET VALUE OF THE COMPANY ON THE DATE OF THE MERGER WAS THE ONLY PROPER CALCULATION OF DAMAGES.**

In Weinberger v. UOP, Inc., 457 A.2d 701 (Del. 1983), the Delaware Supreme Court explicitly broadened the interpretation of the Delaware Corporations Code, section 262 on appraisal rights, and adopted a more liberal approach to the valuation process (Id. at 704). The Court concluded that an exclusive method for valuation was outmoded and a more liberal approach to stock valuation and appraisal proceedings must include proof of value by *any* techniques or methods which are generally considered acceptable in the financial community (Id. at 712). They held that the most popularly employed techniques for valuation no longer exclusively control appraisal and valuation proceedings, and that alternative valuation techniques should be allowed. (Id. at 713; See also, Cede & Co. v. Technicolor Inc., 684 A.2d 289, 296-297 (Del. 1996)). The Court in Weinberger further concluded that when determining the value that the stockholder is entitled to be paid for that which has been taken from him, a number of relevant factors are to be included. The

Court stated:

In determining what figure represents [the] true or intrinsic value, the appraiser and the courts must take into consideration all factors and elements which reasonably might enter into the fixing of value. Thus, market value, asset value, dividends, earning prospects, the nature of the enterprise and any other facts which were known or which could be ascertained as of the date of merger and which throw any light on *future prospects* of the merged corporation are not only pertinent to an inquiry as to the value of the dissenting stockholders' interest, but ***must be considered*** by the agency fixing the value. . . This is not only in accord with the realities of present day affairs, but it is thoroughly consonant with the purpose and intent of our statutory law. It is significant that section 262 now mandates the determination of 'fair' value based upon 'all relevant factors.' Only the speculative elements of value that may arise from the 'accomplishment or expectation' of the merger are excluded. We take this to be a very narrow exception to the appraisal process.... But elements of future value, including the nature of the enterprise, which are known or susceptible of proof as of the date of the merger and not the product of speculation, may be considered. (*Id.* at 713; italics in original)

Thus, not only are acceptable valuation methods to be liberally construed by the Courts, but, according to Weinberger all the relevant factors should be included when determining value as well (See Also, Cede & Co. at 295<sup>1</sup>).

Even elements of "future value" may be considered. Weinberger and all of its progeny dictate that "market value" is simply a fact to be used in coming up with "fair

---

<sup>1</sup> The Court in Cede Co. v. Technicolor, Inc. cited and followed Weinberger for the proposition that the Court must broaden the process for determining fair value, and factors that are not the product of speculation may be considered when determining value, including the nature of the enterprise (Cede Co. v. Technicolor, Inc. (1996) 684 A.2d 289, 295).

value.”<sup>2</sup> In fact the Black-Scholes method used by Kalay utilized market value as a factor. Kalay first determined the market value of the company to be between \$63.6 million and \$72.9 million. (R. 4645, ¶13). Kalay also accounted for the liquidation preference of approximately \$82 million. Kalay utilized those figures and others to come up with the “fair value” of Plaintiffs shares (the range of the “fair value” lost was between \$4.2 million and \$6.706 million).

Utah has also adopted a broad and liberal interpretation of the valuation methods that are allowed. In Bingham Consolidation Co. v. Groesbeck, 2004 UT App 434, 105 P.3d 365 (Utah Ct. App. 2004), the Utah Court of Appeals stated that the goal of appraisal is to ascertain the actual worth of that which the dissenter loses . . . there are no fixed methods for valuating the shares, and most courts permit all generally accepted techniques of valuation used in the financial community. (*Id.* at 370, citing Oakridge Energy Inc. v. Clifton, 937 P.2d 130, 132 (Utah 1997), See also, Paskill Corp. v. Alcoma Corp., 747 A.2d 549, 556 (Del. 2000)). They concluded that they are in agreement with other jurisdictions that, “a court should make use of all generally accepted techniques of valuation used in the financial community.” (Bingham at 375, See also, Paskill Corp. at 556).

---

<sup>2</sup> This is precisely why defendant’s own expert stated that shares can be “out of the money” yet still have value. An “out of the money” scenario is exactly what we have here because the liquidation preference exceeds market value. Commons shareholders in these scenarios must have protection – otherwise, they can be frozen out at any time for any reason.



Defendants' own expert, Grabowski, in his expert report of May 31, 2006 points out this exact contention. He states that, "The Black-Scholes option pricing model is widely accepted in the financial community as a methodology to estimate the price of an option, or derivative instrument, and . . . may be used in certain instances to provide the value of the equity of a company under financial distress." (R. 1982, Ex. W, Grabowski Report, p. 14).

Pursuant to both Delaware and Utah law the Court should have liberally and broadly interpreted what valuation methods are to be allowed in such proceedings as this. The area of valuation is no longer controlled exclusively by certain methods, and those formulas and techniques which are generally accepted in the financial community are now clearly allowed by the Courts. (See, Weinberger at 712 and Bingham Consolidation at 370).

In stating that the Plaintiffs could not show damages, the District Court erred in two ways.

First, as shown above, market value is not solely determinative of "fair value."

Second, and more importantly, The market value of \$73.7 million to \$83.2 million cited by the Court was Professor Kalay's determination that Campus Pipeline as an entity had a market value of that amount at the time of the merger. Section 262 and the cases clearly state that the court is to determine the fair value of the shares on the date of the merger – not the company. It is a distinction that is not splitting hairs.

CPI was founded in 1998. In 2002, it was still clearly a start up venture. It is not surprising that the stock was “out of the money.” Google, Yahoo, and any other startup company experiences a period of initial capitalization where expenditures exceed earnings. The Defendants’ own expert acknowledged that “out of the money” stock still has value. For that reason, section 262 and the Delaware and Utah cases require that the value of the shares be determined – not the book, asset, or market value of the company. Each share of stock at the time of the merger was like owning a lottery ticket. If the company succeeded, they would have value. If the company ultimately failed, they would be worthless. The Plaintiffs had the right to continue to hold those shares and have the company continue in business.

Just like a losing lottery ticket has no value – a potentially winning lottery ticket clearly has a value. CPI had not failed. Its stock clearly had a value or expectation interest. Dr. Kalay’s opinion used Nobel prize winning methods to determine that value. It was the Defendants’ experts who failed to provide any legitimate value. They–like the court–used market value of the company. It is axiomatic that a share of stock that shows any possibility of success, has a value.

Instead of realizing on that value the common shareholders were given nothing. At the same time, the conflicted directors, the conflicted officers, and the controlling shareholder all walked away with either substantial cash payments or the company itself.

## CONCLUSION