2007

William Borghetti v. System & Computer Technology Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Borghetti’s claims of legal malpractice fail as a matter of law for several reasons.

1. The fundamental, straightforward reason for granting summary judgment which the trial court understandably accepted as controlling, is that the undisputed material facts established that the fair value of CPI, at the effective date of its Acquisition by SCT, was less than the \$80,880,000 liquidation preference. (R. 2137; 2267; 2373; 2435 at pp. 10-12, 107-109, 146, 164, 174-176.) The highest value derived for CPI as of the relevant date by Borghetti’s own expert, Avner Kalay, was only \$72,900,000, far less

than \$80,880,000. (R. 2435 at pp. 10-12, 107-109, 146, 164, 174-176.) In order to recover damages in a Delaware appraisal action, Borghetti had to be able to establish that the fair value of CPI was greater than \$80,880,000, which he did not. (R. 2131-2132; 2240; 2398; 2405 at p. 73.) Thus, Bendinger Crockett's alleged failure to advise regarding the filing of a Delaware appraisal action did not cause any damage as Borghetti would have recovered nothing in such an action, in any event. This is a complete bar to all Borghetti's claims against Bendinger Crockett, and this Court should affirm on this ground alone.

The fact that Kalay's own calculations do not exceed the liquidation preference resolves this case and this appeal in favor of Bendinger Crockett. There is no need to conduct further inquiry into any other issue, or to analyze valuation methodologies as urged by Borghetti, because the failure of Borghetti to present any evidence of fair value in excess of the liquidation preference ends all inquiries and requires that this Court affirm the trial court's summary judgment in favor of Bendinger Crockett.

Bendinger Crockett does not believe that it is necessary to point out the deficiencies in the methodology used by Kalay since Kalay's highest calculations, regardless of methodology, do not exceed the liquidation preference. In the event this Court nonetheless addresses methodology, Bendinger Crockett also shows below that Kalay's valuation methodology is flawed and would not be accepted in an appraisal action. Rejection of Kalay's methodology leaves Borghetti with no evidence whatsoever of CPI's fair value, thus providing another basis for affirming summary judgment.

There are two other alternative grounds which the trial court was not required to decide, but upon which this Court may also affirm summary judgment. Bendinger Crockett will also explain those as part of its brief.

2. Borghetti cannot prove the existence of an attorney-client relationship, which is a prerequisite to a legal malpractice claim. Bendinger Crockett and Borghetti expressly confirmed in writing multiple times that there was no such relationship. (R. 2153-2159.) Because there was no attorney-client relationship, Bendinger Crockett did not have a duty to advise Borghetti of the 120-day appraisal action deadline.

3. Even assuming that an attorney-client relationship existed, Borghetti's legal malpractice claim fails because before he ever met with Bendinger Crockett, Borghetti had retained attorney John Parsons to advise him of the critical appraisal deadlines, and Borghetti had also been notified multiple times of the deadlines in the documents sent to him by CPI. (R. 2051 at pp. 165, 178-193; 2119-2120; 2122-2127; 2129; 2131-2142; 2144-2145; 2171-2172; 2177-2179; 2181 at pp. 34, 40-41, 46-47; 2203-2204.) Bendinger Crockett, therefore, had no duty to advise Borghetti about the 120-day deadline of which he was clearly already aware, and a lawyer's failure to advise a party about something he already knows cannot be the proximate cause of damage.

ARGUMENT

Point I

THE FAIR VALUE OF CPI ON THE DATE OF THE ACQUISITION WAS LESS THAN THE \$80,880,000 LIQUIDATION PREFERENCE AND THEREFORE BORGHETTI WAS NOT DAMAGED BY HIS FAILURE TO FILE A DELAWARE APPRAISAL ACTION.

Borghetti's sole claim for malpractice relates to missing the 120 day deadline for filing an appraisal action in Delaware court. But Borghetti cannot prove his "case-within-the-case" against Bendinger Crockett -- i.e., that he would have been successful in an appraisal action had one been filed -- because the value of CPI on the date of the Acquisition, even according to his own expert, was less than the \$80,880,000 priority interest held by preferred shareholders. (R. 2435 at pp. 10-12, 107-109, 146, 164, 174-176.) Therefore, Borghetti cannot prove that the alleged failure to advise or preserve appraisal rights caused him any damage and his legal malpractice claims fail as a matter of law.

A. Borghetti must prove the "case-within-the-case."

To prevail in a legal malpractice action a plaintiff must plead and prove a causal connection between the breach of duty and the resulting injury to the client. See Harline v. Barker, 912 P.2d 433, 439 (Utah 1996). To show the necessary causal connection element, Borghetti must prove the "case-within-the-case," that is, that he would have prevailed in the underlying appraisal action had one been filed. See id. at 439-40. If Borghetti would not have recovered damages in an appraisal action, his malpractice claim against Bendinger Crockett fails as a matter of law: "Lack of any damages and direct

causation is fatal to [any] malpractice claim.” Bennett v. Jones, Waldo, Holbrook & McDonough, 70 P.3d 17, 28 (internal citation omitted, bracketed insert in original).

Whether Borghetti can prove the proximate cause element, i.e., the “case-within-the-case,” is an issue that can be decided on summary judgment as a matter of law when “the facts are so clear that reasonable persons could not disagree about the underlying facts or about the application of a legal standard to the facts.” Harline, 912 P.2d at 439.

B. Delaware appraisal actions generally.

1. Purpose of Section 262.

Section 262 provides a procedure for obtaining a judicial determination of the fair value of shareholdings in an acquired Delaware company. See Del. Code Ann. tit. 8, § 262. The appraisal proceeding is “intended to provide shareholders dissenting from a merger on grounds of inadequacy of the offering price with a judicial determination of the intrinsic worth (fair value) of their shareholdings.” Cede & Co. v. Technicolor, Inc., 542 A.2d 1182, 1186 (Del. 1988) (Technicolor “I”). Because CPI was a Delaware corporation, any shareholder - including Borghetti - who felt aggrieved by the Acquisition had the right to file a petition for appraisal to determine the value of his or her shares, and then obtain a judgment for the fair value of the stock. See generally, Del. Code Ann. tit. 8, § 262.

2. To determine the fair value of shareholdings, the entire company must first be valued as a going concern.

The only litigable issue in a Delaware appraisal action is the fair value of the dissenting stockholder’s shares in the company on the date of the merger. Cede & Co. v.

Technicolor, Inc., 684 A.2d 289, 296 (Del. 1996) (Technicolor “IV”) (citing Technicolor “I”, 542 A.2d at 1187). “Fair value is, by now, a jurisprudential concept that draws more from judicial writings than from the appraisal statute itself.” Del. Open MRI Radiology Assocs., P.A. v. Kessler, 898 A.2d 290, 310 (Del. Ch. 2006).

Delaware law requires that the fair value of an individual’s shares is determined by first valuing the company as a whole as a going concern as of the date of the merger, and then calculating the shareholder’s proportionate interest in the total value according to their number of shares, rather than attempting to value the individual shareholdings. See Cavalier Oil Corp. v. Harnett, 564 A.2d 1137, 1144 (Del. 1989) (“the dissenting shareholder’s proportionate interest is determined only after the company as an entity has been valued.”); Technicolor “IV”, 684 A.2d at 298 (“[T]he Court of Chancery’s task in an appraisal proceeding is to value what has been taken from the shareholder, i.e., the proportionate interest in the going concern. . . . Thus the company must first be valued as an operating entity.”); LeBeau v. M.G. Corp., Inc., 1998 Del. Ch. LEXIS 9, 23 (“It is a well-established principle of Delaware law that the objective of a section 262 appraisal is to value the *corporation itself*, as distinguished from a fraction of its *shares* as they may exist in the hands of a particular shareholder”) (emphasis in original and internal citations and quotation marks omitted); Highfields Capital, Ltd. v. AXA Fin., Inc., 2007 Del. Ch. LEXIS 126, 19-20 (“In a section 262 appraisal proceeding, the court must

determine the fair value of 100% of the corporation [and award] the dissenting stockholder his proportionate share of that value”) (quotation and citations omitted).²

3. The merger is assumed to be valid.

The court conducting the appraisal is required to assume the validity of the merger and to simply value the dissenters’ equity ownership. Inquiries into corporate wrongdoing, such as whether the Acquisition was valid, or whether the sale was in the best interests of the shareholders are irrelevant. Economic damages flowing from corporate wrongdoing in connection with an Acquisition are irrelevant in the context of a statutory appraisal. See Technicolor “I”, 542 A.2d at 1189.

4. The company is valued based on the “operative reality.”

The fair value of the going concern includes future business prospects of the company that are subject to proof at the time of the merger. But elements of future value

² The factors to consider to determine the going concern’s fair value are pronounced in Weinberger v. UOP, Inc., 457 A.2d 701, 713 (Del. 1983):

The basic concept of value under the appraisal statute is that the stockholder is entitled to be paid for that which has been taken from him, viz., his proportionate interest in a going concern. By value of the stockholder’s proportionate interest in the corporate enterprise is meant the true or intrinsic value of his stock which has been taken by the merger. In determining what figure represents this true or intrinsic value, the appraiser and the courts must take into consideration all factors and elements which reasonably might enter into the fixing of value. Thus, market value, asset value, dividends, earning prospects, the nature of the enterprise and any other facts which were known or which could be ascertained as of the date of merger and which throw any light on future prospects of the merged corporation are not only pertinent to an inquiry as to the value of the dissenting stockholders’ interest, but must be considered by the agency fixing the value.

that are speculative and not subject to proof cannot be considered. See Weinberger v. UOP, Inc., 457 A.2d 701, 713 (Del. 1983). In other words, the court must consider the “operative reality” of the company when making its fair value determination. See Montgomery Cellular Holding Co., Inc. v. Dobler, 880 A.2d 206, 222 (Del. 2005). Similarly, the court must further assume that “the dissenting shareholders would be willing to maintain their investment position had the merger not occurred.” Technicolor “IV”, 684 A.2d at 298.

C. Based on these principles of Delaware law, Borghetti would not have prevailed in an appraisal action because he has no evidence establishing a value of CPI on the effective date of the Acquisition in excess of the liquidation preference.

Borghetti would be entitled to an appraisal award only if the fair value of the company on the effective date of the Acquisition (October 23, 2002) were to exceed \$80,880,000.00, which is the sum of the liquidation preference held by preferred shareholders on that date. Borghetti has the burden of proving this fair value as part of his prima facie “case-within-a-case” against Bendinger Crockett. He has failed to meet this burden, for at least the following reasons.

1. Borghetti’s own damages expert, Professor Avner Kalay, arrives at a value of CPI between \$63,600,000 at the low end and \$72,900,000 at the high end, both less than the \$80,880,00 liquidation preference.

Borghetti would not have recovered anything had he filed a Delaware appraisal action, even using his own expert’s calculations. Kalay used the Black-Scholes method and calculated a value for CPI of between \$63,600,000 and \$72,900,000. (R. 2235-2255; 2435 at pp. 10-12, 107-109, 146.) It is undisputed that the preferred shareholders of CPI

held an \$80,880,000 liquidation preference on the date of the merger. (R. 2131-2132; 2240; 2405 at p. 73.) If the company sold for Kalay's highest figure of \$72,900,000, only the preferred shareholders would realize any value. Because of the \$80,880,000 liquidation preference, there would be nothing left to divide among the common stockholders like Borghetti. (R. 2131-2132; 2240; 2398; 2405 at p. 73.) Using Kalay's numbers, Borghetti's proportionate interest in CPI on the date of the merger was zero. The simple fact that \$72,900,000 is less than \$80,880,000 means that Borghetti's common shares in CPI had no "fair value." Kalay's value opinions are fatal to the claim that the loss of appraisal rights was the proximate cause of any damage.

The record is devoid of any evidence that places the fair value of CPI as a going concern on the date of the merger above the liquidation preference. Like Kalay, every other expert in this case concludes that the value of CPI was less than the liquidation preference. According to the expert report of Roger J. Grabowski, Bendinger Crockett's appraisal expert, the fair value of CPI, as of the date of the Acquisition in October 2002, was only \$35,000,000. (R. 2267.) According to the report of Richard S. Hoffman, the expert for the other defendants, the fair value of CPI as of the date of the Acquisition was only \$36,280,000. (R. 2373.) Finally, according to the report of Thomas Weisel Partners, the company hired by CPI to determine its value before the Acquisition, the value of CPI was between \$200,000 and \$58,900,000. (R. 2137.)

Thus, all experts, including Kalay, share the opinion that the value of CPI was less than the liquidation preference. Due to the \$80,880,000 liquidation value of the preferred stock, all common stock including Borghetti's had effectively no value on the date of

Acquisition, regardless of which expert's appraisal is accepted. Therefore, Borghetti would not have recovered anything in a Delaware appraisal action and Borghetti can not prove the "case-within-the-case" as a matter of law.

In an attempt to remedy this fatal weakness in his case, Borghetti attempted to oppose Bendinger Crockett's summary judgment motion by modifying Kalay's written opinions and deposition testimony via a supplemental affidavit, which stated that Kalay's calculations generated a "fair value" of Borghetti's shares as of the time of the Acquisition of between "\$4.2 million and \$6.706 million." (R. 4648.) This affidavit does not create a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Borghetti would have prevailed in an appraisal action.

First, the conclusion lacks foundation. As stated above, the Delaware court must first value the entity as a whole to determine what a particular shareholder's fractional interest may be. See Cavalier Oil Corp. v. Harnett, 564 A.2d 1137, 1144 (Del. 1989); Cede & Co. v. Technicolor, Inc., 684 A.2d 289, 298 (Del. 1996); LeBeau v. M.G. Corp., Inc., 1998 Del. Ch. LEXIS 9, 23; Highfields Capital, Ltd. v. AXA Fin., Inc., 2007 Del. Ch. LEXIS 126, 19-20. Given the \$80,880,000 liquidation preference, if Borghetti owned 8.8% of the common stock at the time of the Acquisition (R. 2140),³ and if the "fair value" of Borghetti's shares as of the time of the Acquisition was "\$4.2 million and \$6.706 million" as stated by Kalay in his supplemental affidavit (R. 4648), then the fair value of CPI as a whole would need to be between \$128,000,000 and \$157,000,000. However, Kalay did not find these values with respect to CPI on the date of the

³ This percentage also includes Borghetti's affiliates.

Acquisition. (R. 2435 at pp. 10-12, 107-109, 146.) Therefore, there is no foundation for the conclusory assertion in Kalay's supplemental affidavit that the "fair value" of Borghetti's shares as of the time of the Acquisition was "\$4.2 million and \$6.706 million."

Next, the affidavit fails to create a genuine issue of material fact because this Court has long held that when a party takes a clear position in a deposition, which is not modified on cross-examination, "he may not thereafter raise an issue of fact by his own affidavit which contradicts his deposition, unless he can provide an explanation of the discrepancy." Webster v. Sill, 675 P.2d 1170, 1172-73 (Utah 1983) ; see also Harnicher v. Univ. of Utah Med. Ctr., 962 P.2d 67 (Utah 1998); Hackman v. Valley Fair, 932 F.2d 239, 241 (3d Cir. 1991).

Kalay's supplemental affidavit directly contradicts his expert report and deposition. Specifically, Paragraph 27 of the Kalay affidavit should not be considered because, contrary to his deposition and report, Kalay claims to have offered "fair value" calculations under the Delaware statute. (R. 4651.) Kalay testified that he had no experience or familiarity with the Delaware appraisal process when he reached his value calculations. (R. 2435 at pp. 159, 165, 184.) To the extent that paragraph 27, or in any other paragraph in the supplemental affidavit states that Kalay performed a fair value calculation of CPI, those paragraphs should not be considered.

Further, in paragraphs 14 and 28 of the affidavit, Kalay states that the "fair value" of Borghetti's shares as of the time of the Acquisition was between "\$4.2 million and \$6.706 million." (R. 4648; 4651-4652.) However, Kalay testified that the highest values

that he could find for CPI were \$63,600,000 to \$72,900,000. (R. 2435 at pp. 10-12, 107-109, 146). To the extent that the reference to “\$4.2 million and \$6.706 million” in paragraphs 14 and 28 is meant to imply that Kalay reached a corporate value in excess of \$72,900,000, they should not be considered since they are directly contrary to Kalay’s deposition testimony.

Further, Kalay states in paragraph 13 of the affidavit that he once determined that the value of CPI was “\$73.7 million to \$83.2 million.” (R. 4648.) He then admits in paragraph 14 that he modified his opinions, but neglects to inform the reader that the modification was the result of a mathematical error noted by expert Richard Hoffman and which resulted in a reduction of Kalay’s value range to \$63,600,000 at the low end and \$72,900,000 at the high end, both well below the liquidation preference. (R. 2435 at pp. 10-12.) Kalay clearly testified in his deposition that “\$73.7 million to \$83.2 million” is no longer his opinion on value, and that \$63,600,000 to \$72,900,000 is his adjusted range. (R. 2435 at pp. 10-12, 107-109, 146.) To the extent that Borghetti intends for the Kalay affidavit to imply that the value of CPI was “\$73.7 million to \$83.2 million,” paragraph 13 should not be considered because Kalay clearly testified to the contrary.

In summary, Borghetti cannot prove “the case within the case” because Borghetti would not have prevailed in a Delaware appraisal action had one been filed where the fair value of CPI on the date of the Acquisition was less than the \$80,880,000 liquidation preference. Kalay’s belated supplemental affidavit does not change this result since it lacks foundation and contradicts his deposition testimony.

2. In the alternative, Kalay's value calculations should be rejected because they are based on improper assumptions and methodology.

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